
Ratzlaf v. United States: Sometimes
Ignorance of the Law is an Excuse

Waldemar and Loretta Ratzlaf had a bad night playing blackjack in
Las Vegas, and ended the night owing the casino $160,000. The casino
gave the Ratzlafs a week to pay off the debt. They returned to the
casino with a bag full of cash and asked the casino not to fill out any
written report of the payment transaction. The casino informed the
Ratzlafs that since the transaction involved more than $10,000, it would
be necessary to fill out a currency transaction report ("CTR").' The
casino also informed the Ratzlafs that it could accept a cashier's check
for the full amount without reporting the transaction. The Ratzlafs
subsequently went to a multitude of banks, and, after being informed
that the banks would report transactions over $10,000, obtained
cashier's checks for less than $10,000 from each. During an IRS audit,
these dealings were discovered and the Ratzlafs were arrested. The jury
convicted the Ratzlafs for conspiracy to structure and for structuring
financial transactions for the purpose of evading reporting require-
ments.2 Two statutes are directly relevant to these charges. 31 U.S.C.
§ 5324(3)3 states, "No person shall for the purpose of evading the
reporting requirements of section 5313(a) with respect to such transac-
tion-. . . (3) structure or assist in structuring, or attempt to structure
or assist in structuring any transaction with one or more domestic
financial institutions." 31 U.S.C. § 5322(a) states, "A person willfully
violating this subchapter or a regulation prescribed under this subchap-
ter ... shall be fined ... or imprisoned ... or both." The trial judge
instructed the jury that to find the Ratzlafs guilty, the jury needed only
to find that the Ratzlafs knew of the section 5313(a) reporting obligation

1. 31 U.S.C. § 5313(a) (1988) together with 31 C.F.R. § 103.22(a) (1993), a regulation
prescribed under it, requires financial institutions and casinos to report to the government
currency transactions that involve more than $10,000.

2. Ratzlafv. United States, 114 S. Ct. 655, 657 (1994).
3. Following Ratzlaf's conviction, Congress recodified Section 5324(1)-(3) as Section

5324(a)(1)-(3), without substantive change. See Annunzio-Wylie Anit-Money Laundering
Act, Pub. L. No. 102-550, Tit. XV, § 1525(a), 106 Stat. 4064 (1988). This Note will refer to
the statutes as in effect at the time of the conviction.
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and that they attempted to evade that obligation.4 The judge instructed
the jury that it was not necessary for the Ratzlafs to know that
structuring transactions to avoid the reporting obligation was illegal.5
The Ratzlafs appealed and the United States Court of Appeals for the
Ninth Circuit affirmed.6 The Supreme Court of the United States in a
five to four decision held that to give effect to the willfulness require-
ment of section 5322(a) the Government must prove the defendant knew
that the structuring he participated in was unlawful.'

In 1970, Congress passed the Currency and Foreign Transactions
Reporting Act' in response to criminals using banks and other financial
institutions as intermediaries.9 The Act, in part, required financial
institutions to report certain currency transactions. 10 People began
structuring their transactions so as to avoid the reporting requirement.
Congress then passed 31 U.S.C. § 5324 as part of the Money Laundering
Control Act of 1986.1 After these acts were passed, a split developed
among the circuit courts of appeal as to what elements must be proven
by the Government to show that someone has "willfully violated" section
5324 and therefore may be convicted under section 5322.12 The courts
disagreed on whether the Government must show that the defendant
knew that the conduct was illegal in order to obtain a conviction under
section 5324.'3 In addition to the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals, nine
other circuits have held that knowledge of illegality is not necessary. 4

The First Circuit Court of Appeals stood alone in finding that to satisfy
section 5322 the Government must prove either that the defendant has

4. Ratzlaf, 114 S. Ct. at 657.
5. Id.
6. United States v. Ratzlaf, 976 F.2d 1280 (9th Cir. 1992), rev'd, 114 S. Ct. 655 (1994).
7. 114 S. Ct. at 658.
8. Pub. L. No. 91-508, 84 Stat. 1118 (1970).
9. Ratzlaf, 114 S. Ct. at 658.

10. See 31 U.S.C. § 5313.
11. Pub. L. No. 99-570, § 1354(a), 100 Stat. 3207-22 (1986).
12. Ratzlaf, 114 S. Ct. at 657.
13. Id.
14. Id. at 665 n.3 (citing United States v. Scanio, 900 F.2d 485, 489-92 (2d Cir. 1990);

United States v. Shirk, 981 F.2d 1382, 1389-92 (3d Cir. 1992), vacated, 114 S. Ct. 873
(1994); United States v. Rogers, 962 F.2d 342, 343-45 (4th Cir. 1992); United States v.
Beaumont, 972 F.2d 91, 93-95 (5th Cir. 1992), cert. denied, 113 S. Ct. 2384 (1993); United
States v. Baydoun, 984 F.2d 175, 180 (6th Cir. 1993); United States v. Jackson, 983 F.2d
757, 767 (7th Cir. 1993); United States v. Gibbons, 968 F.2d 639, 643-45 (8th Cir. 1992);
United States v. Dashney, 937 F.2d 532, 537-40 (10th Cir. 1991), cert. denied, 112 S. Ct.
402 (1991); United States v. Brown, 954 F.2d 1563, 1567-69 (11th Cir. 1992), cert. denied,
113 S. Ct. 284 (1992)).
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violated a known legal duty or has recklessly disregarded such duty.15

United States v. Scanio"6 is the leading case for the proposition that
knowledge of illegality is not required to satisfy section 5324. In that
case, the defendant, upon learning that the bank would have to report
his deposit of $13,101.17, asked the tellers what amount would not have
to be reported if deposited, and subsequently only deposited $9,500. He
was charged with one count of structuring a currency transaction and
sentenced to two years in jail. Scanio appealed, asking for a reversal
because of the instructions to the jury that the Government did not have
to show that the defendant knew the structuring was unlawful. The
court affirmed, finding it unnecessary that the defendant have actual
knowledge that structuring is unlawful to satisfy the willfulness
requirement of section 5322. The court first stated that the meaning of
the word "willful" is determined by the context in which it is used. 17

The court next stated that willful conduct generally "means no more
than that the person charged with the duty knows what he is doing. It
does not mean that, in addition, he must suppose that he is breaking the
law."8 The court noted that where the conduct is innocent, "willful"
may require more, but that section 5324 prohibits conduct of which the
purpose is to deprive the Government of information."9 The court found
that a bad purpose exists in the conduct when the defendant knows of
the reporting requirement and acts to deprive the Government of
information by structuring his transaction to avoid it.20 The court
recognized that it gave a different meaning to the term "willful" in
section 5322 when it applied to sections other than section 5324, such as
section 5316, but did not see this as a problem.2 ' A significant Su-
preme Court case following Scanio was Cheek v. United States.22 That
case involved John Cheek, who ceased to file income tax returns after
1979, claiming he was exempt from federal income taxes. The prosecu-
tor charged Mr. Cheek with willfully failing to file a federal income tax
return for the years 1980, 1981, and 1983 through 1986 in violation of
26 U.S.C. § 7203 and with willfully attempting to evade his income tax
for three of those years. Both offenses required that the defendant acted

15. United States v. Aversa, 984 F.2d 493, 498 (1st Cir. 1993).
16. 900 F.2d 485 (2d Cir. 1990).
17. Id. at 489 (citing United States v. Stroud, 893 F.2d 504,507 (2d Cir. 1990) (quoting

Screws v. United States, 325 U.S. 91, 101 (1945) (plurality opinion))).
18. Id. (quoting American Surety Co. v. Sullivan, 7 F.2d 605, 606 (2d Cir. 1925) (L.

Hand, J.)).
19. Id. at 491.
20. Id.
21. Id. at 490-91.
22. 498 U.S. 192 (1991).
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willfully. Cheek claimed that he sincerely believed that the tax laws of
America were being unconstitutionally enforced and that he acted
lawfully between 1980 and 1986. The jury convicted him after the judge
instructed them that "[an] honest but unreasonable belief is not a
defense and does not negate willfulness."' The court of appeals
affirmed and the Supreme Court reversed.' The Supreme Court found
that to show willfulness in criminal tax cases the Government must
prove that the defendant intentionally violated a known legal duty.2"
The defendant must know of the law and understand it to be convict-
ed.26 One cannot be aware that the law imposes a duty on him where
he is ignorant of the law, misunderstands it, or believes that the duty
does not exist.27 United States v. Aversa s is the only court of appeals
case to find that "willful" in section 5324 requires more than knowledge
of the reporting requirement and purpose to evade it. In Aversa the
defendant wished to hide money from his wife with whom he was having
marital difficulties. He deposited some of his money in a friend's
account, and in order to protect his friend from potentially adverse tax
consequences, he signed a statement acknowledging that half the money
was his. He and his friend also kept their deposits below $10,000 in
order to avoid the reporting requirement and thereby reduce any paper
trail the wife might use to trace down the cash. The court first
recognized the familiar principle that willful "is a word of many
meanings, its construction often being influenced by its context."2 The
court went on to note that courts have recognized four definitions of
"willfulness."30 The first equates "willful" with "knowing."1 In other
words, this approach requires only that the defendant is aware of his
conduct and the nature of his circumstances.32 The court rejected this
definition because it believed it would make the word "willfully" in
section 5322 superfluous and that courts should give some effect to
legislative terms whenever possible.33 The second definition the court

23. Id. at 197.
24. Id. at 201.
25. Id.
26. Id. at 202.
27. Id.
28. 984 F.2d 493 (lst Cir. 1993) (en banc).
29. Id. at 496-97 (quoting Spies v. United States, 317 U.S. 492, 497 (1943)).
30. Id. at 497.
31. Id.
32. Id.
33. Id. at 497 n.6 (citing Gade v. National Solid Waste Management Ass'n, 112 S. Ct.

2374, 2384 (1992); United States v. Menasche, 348 U.S. 528, 538-39 (1955)).
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considered equates "willfulness" with the violation of a known legal
duty. ' The court found that Cheek does not require such a subjective
standard in nontax cases.' The court distinguished Cheek because it
was a tax crime case, with the rational behind such cases being that the
Tax Code is so esoteric, intricate, and complex that the Supreme Court
has held that Congress does not intend to punish those who in good faith
violate a tax crime statute.36 The third definition the court examined
is the one Scanio37 and nine other courts of appeals have adopted. This
definition allows "willfully" as used in section 5322 to encompass
different meanings at the same time. Mistake of law is allowed as a
defense to certain crimes and at the same time not allowed as a defense
to others." The court in Aversa rejected this definition for two
reasons.39 First, the court recognized that Congress may intend for a
word to mean different things when used in different provisions of the
same Act.40 In this case, though, the same word was not repeated in
different parts of the statute, but the statute used a single word in a
single section that therefore should have a single meaning.4 ' Tb give
different meanings to the same word would make the definition of the
word so malleable that the usefulness of a single penalty provision for
a group of related code sections would be eliminated.42 A second reason
for rejecting this definition was that if Congress had wanted the mens
rea in the antistructuring statute to stand alone it could have easily
accomplished that goal. It could have either placed the provision
somewhere besides Subchapter II or amended section 5322 not to include
the provision. The court therefore found "that absent powerful evidence
to the contrary, we believe courts should presume that Congress
intended the mens rea set by section 5322 to apply in equal measure to
both [nonstructuring] and structuring offenses."' The court in Aversa
accepted a fourth definition holding that the willfulness standard of
section 5322 is satisfied when the defendant either intentionally violates
a known legal duty or acts in reckless disregard of such duty." This

34. Id. at 497.
35. Id. at 500.
36. Id.
37. 900 F.2d at 490 (interprets "willfully" to mean different things when applied to

either section 5324 or section 5316).
38. Aversa, 984 F.2d at 497.
39. Id. at 498.
40. Id.
41. Id.
42. Id.
43. Id. at 499.
44. Id. at 498.
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meaning allows the noninnocent actor to be convicted, while excluding
those who act innocently and with no bad purpose.

In deciding whether knowledge of the illegality of structuring was
necessary for a conviction under section 5322, the Supreme Court in
Ratzlaf analyzed the meaning of the word "willfully." 5 First, the Court
examined what effect interpreting "willfully" as not requiring knowledge
of illegality would have on the statute. The Court felt that treating it
so would make the "willfulness" requirement "surplusage [and] words of
no consequence."' Words should be given meaning when included in
a statute, especially when the words describe an element of a criminal
offense. After determining that the word should be given some
meaning, the Court went on to look at the context of the statute in order
to construe it.48 The Court found it significant that when section 5322
has been applied to other provisions of the same subchapter, courts of
appeals have consistently required both "'knowledge of the reporting
requirement' and a 'specific intent to commit the crime,' i.e., 'a purpose
to disobey the law.' 49 The Supreme Court noted decisions regarding
31 U.S.C. § 5314, which concerns reporting financial transactions with
foreign agencies, and section 5316, which concerns transporting more
than $10,000 into or out of the United States." These decisions have
described a "willful" actor as one who violates a "known legal duty."51

The Court stated that it has strong reason to construe "willful" in section
5322 the same way each time it is applied to a related provision.52 The
Court cited Aversa's discussion of how a different interpretation would
allow individual interpreters to make a single penalty provision for a

45. Ratzlaf, 114 S. Ct. at 657.
46. Id. at 659.
47. Id. (citing Pennsylvania Dep't of Public Welfare v. Davenport, 495 U.S. 552, 562

(1990) ("deep reluctance" to interpret provisions "so as to render superfluous other
provisions in the same enactment") (citation omitted); Potter v. United States, 155 U.S.
438, 446 (1894) (the word "willful" used to describe certain offenses but not others "cannot
be regarded as mere surplusage; it means something").)

48. Id. (citing Spies v. United States, 317 U.S. at 497).
49. Id. at 659-60 (citing United States v. Bank of New England, 821 F.2d 844 (1st Cir.

1987); United States v. Eisenstein, 731 F.2d 1540 (11th Cir. 1984)).
50. Id.
51. Id. at 659 (citing United States v. Sturman, 951 F.2d 1466, 1476-77 (6th Cir. 1991)

("willful violation" of section 5314 requires proof of "voluntary, intentional violation of a
known legal duty") (quoting Cheek v. United States, 498 U.S. at 201)); United States v.
Warren, 612 F.2d 887, 890 (5th Cir. 1980); United States v. Dichne, 612 F.2d 632, 626 (2d
Cir. 1979); United States v. Granda, 565 F.2d 922, 924-26 (overturns conviction for
violation of section 5316 rejecting Government's contention that statutory provisions "do
not require that the defendant be aware of the fact that he is breaking the law").

52. Id. at 660.
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group of related sections worthless." The Court next addressed the
Government's contention that section 5324 violators show by their
conduct an intention to do wrong, which satisfies the "willfulness"
requirement." The Government in its brief noted, "On occasion,
criminal statutes ... have been understood to require proof of an
intentional violation of a known legal duty .... But where that
construction has been adopted, it has been invoked only to ensure that
the defendant acted with a wrongful purpose."5 The Government went
on to say that section 5324 defines the bad purpose required to violate
it, specifically, the purpose to evade the reporting requirement.56 Since
"structuring is not the kind of activity that an ordinary person would
engage in innocently,"57 the Government finds it reasonable "to hold a
structurer responsible for evading the reporting requirements without
the need to prove specific knowledge that such evasion is unlawful."5s

The Court rejected the contentions of the Government referring to
instances when someone may structure "innocently."59 One example is
the small business person who deposits $9500 twice each week instead
of over $10,000 once a week. This person may do so, knowing that the
reports filed under section 5313 are available to the Internal Revenue
Service, because she wants to reduce the risk of an audit. If the
Government's interpretation is right this person has committed a
felony.60 The Court also referred to two instances when a person may
structure transactions without a "desire to keep the Government in the
dark" and still be liable under the Government's interpretation of the
statute.61 A person may make small deposits fearful that reports by
the bank may make it more likely for her to be burglarized." A person
might make small deposits in an attempt to keep a spouse unaware of
wealth.' The Court noted that "many occasions" exist in which
persons without violating any law may structure their transactions "in

53. Id. (citing Aversa, 984 F.2d at 498).
54. Id. at 660-61.
55. Brief for the United States, 1993 WL 369133, at *23-*25, Ratzlafv. United States,

114 S. Ct. 655 (1994).
56. Id.
57. Id. at 29 (quoting United States v. Hoyland, 914 F.2d 1125, 1129 (9th Cir. 1990)).
58. Id.
59. 114 S. Ct. at 661.
60. Id.
61. Id.
62. Id. at 661 & n.13 (citing United States v. Dollar Bank Money Market Account No.

1591768456, 980 F.2d 233, 241 (3d Cir. 1992) (eccentric old lady, who hid hundreds of
thousands of dollars in her house, feared information in reports might lead to burglary
attempts).)

63. Id. (citing Aversa, 984 F.2d at 495).
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order to avoid the impact of some regulation or tax." 64  The Court
referred to the practice of people a century ago of avoiding a two cent tax
on bank checks of twenty dollars or more. A man might draw checks
less than twenty dollars to avoid the tax. In United States v. Isham,"
the Court said regarding the man who takes this action:

While his operations deprive the government of the duties it might
reasonably expect to receive, it is not perceived that the practice is
open to the charges of fraud. He resorts to devices to avoid the
payment of duties, but they are not illegal. He has the legal right to
split up his evidences of payment, and thus to avoid the tax."

From these examples, the Court found that structuring is not so "evil"
or "bad" that the "willfulness" requirement is satisfied regardless of
whether the defendant had knowledge that the structuring was
illegal. 7 The Court noted that even if the statute was ambiguous with
regard to the "willfulness" requirement, the Court would be obliged to
resolve the ambiguity in favor of the defendant. 1 In holding that
knowledge of illegality is essential to violate section 5322, the court
accepts that in general, ignorance of the law is no excuse but decides
that in this instance Congress has decreed otherwise."'

This decision has implications both in the area of money structuring
and in the field of criminal law as a whole. The dissent states that the
majority's opinion nullifies section 5324 as a practical matter.7" This
is not necessarily true for two reasons. First, obtaining proof of
knowledge of illegality would be easy to obtain by requiring banks to
post notices advising customers of the prohibition on structuring.7"
Similar noticing steps were taken after courts held that a willful
violation of section 5316, concerning the reporting of international
transportation of currency, required knowledge.72 Second, Congress'
goal to stop structuring is not furthered by prosecuting those who did

64. Id. (citing United States v. Aversa, 762 F. Supp. 441, 446 (D.N.H. 1991), afrd in
part, 984 F.2d 493 (1st Cir. 1993)).

65. 84 U.S. 496, 506 (1873).
66. Id.
67. 114 S. Ct. at 662.
68. Id.
69. Id.
70. Id. at 669.
71. Petitioner's Opening Brief, 1993 WL 369141, at *34-*35, Ratzlaf v. United States,

114 S. Ct. 655 (1994).
72. Id. at *35 n.25 (citing United States v. Chen, 605 F.2d 433,435 n.3 (9th Cir. 1979)

(government modified Customs Form); United States v. Dichne, 612 F.2d 632 (2d Cir. 1979)
(government took steps to notify people at airports); United States v. Salinas-Garza, 803
F.2d 834 (5th Cir. 1986) (government took steps to notify people at border crossings)).
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not know their actions were illegal. People cannot be deterred or
discouraged from structuring unless they know it is prohibited.7"
Therefore, posting notices would allow the government to deter others
from structuring and at the same time allow prosecutions under section
5322 for willful violations of section 5324. This decision also has
implications on the area of criminal law as a whole due to the large
number of statutes with a "willful" element present. The implications
are two-fold. First, when a single penalty provision exists for a group of
related code sections, the Court has shown its intention to give the
shared penalty provision the same meaning when applied to each code
section. Also, by rejecting the Government's contention that a bad
purpose exists here satisfying the willfulness requirement, the Court
shows it may impose a burden on the government when interpreting a
statute that is complex and not common knowledge. The term "willfully"
when used in criminal law has generally required "consciousness of the
act but not ... consciousness that the act is unlawful."74 Hereinafter,
it appears more likely that courts may require more by examining the
context surrounding the term, such as how the terms have been applied
in similar situations and what interpretations will not ensnare innocent
actors.

STEVE BRANTLEY

73. Id. at *35-*36.
74. 114 S. Ct. at 664 (Blackmun, J., dissenting) (quoting Cheek, 498 U.S. at 209 (Scalia,

J. concurring)) (citing Browder v. United States, 312 U.S. 335, 341 (1941); Potter v. United
States, 155 U.S. 438, 446 (1894); American Surety Co. v. Sullivan, 7 F.2d 605,606 (2d Cir.
1925) (L. Hand, J.) ("[Tihe word 'willful'... means no more than that the person charged
with the duty knows what he is doing," not that "he must suppose that he is breaking the
law.")).




